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IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

HOUSTON DIVISION
In re: ; Chapter 11
TEHUM CARE SERVICES, INC., ; Case No. 23-90086 (CML)
Debtor. ;

CLARENCE DEAN’S OBJECTION AND RESERVATION OF RIGHTS TO

APPROVAL OF THE SECOND AMENDED DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

REGARDING DEBTOR AND OFFICIAL COMMITTEE OF UNSECURED
CREDITORS’ SECOND AMENDED JOINT CHAPTER 11 PLAN

Clarence Dean (the “Personal Representative”), the personal representative of the estate of

Jesse Dean, a tort claimant against the Debtor and various third parties, hereby files this objection
and reservation of rights to the Second Amended Disclosure Statement Regarding Debtor and
Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors’ Second Amended Joint Chapter 11 Plan [ECF No.

1071] (the “Disclosure Statement”). In support of this objection and reservation of rights, Mr. Dean

respectfully states as follows:

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

1. The Debtor and Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors’ Second Amended
Joint Chapter 11 Plan [ECF No. 1072] (the “Plan”) described in the Disclosure Statement is
patently unconfirmable and lacks adequate information with respect to the provisions that render
the Plan patently unconfirmable. To the extent that the Court nevertheless approves the Disclosure
Statement as containing adequate information under section 1125 of title 11 of the U.S. Code (the

“Bankruptcy Code”), the Personal Representative reserves his rights to object to confirmation of

the Second Amended Plan on these and other grounds.
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2. The principal problem with the Plan is that it provides what amounts to a discharge
of the Debtor and third parties contrary to Bankruptcy Code §§ 524(e) and 1141(d)(3)). The
provisions of Article IX of the Plan enjoin all parties that hold claims against the Debtor from
pursuing their rights against both the Debtor and the Released Parties. This is even the case for
claimants that do not consent to the releases. But this is a liquidating plan—not even the Debtor is
entitled to a discharge. While a liquidating plan can address what happens to property of a
corporate debtor’s estate, it cannot accomplish through an injunction what amounts to a discharge
of the debtor or third parties.

3. The effective discharge of the Debtor and third parties are the central aspects of the
Plan that make the settlements forming the basis of the plan possible.! It is not a minor point that
could be addressed between solicitation and confirmation. Nor is it something that could be solved
by creditor voting. The Plan seeks to enjoin the actions of parties who do not seek recovery from
the Debtor’s estate—i.e., have not filed proofs of claim—and are therefore not entitled to vote on
the Plan. Moreover, even if every creditor votes to accept the Plan, the Court still must evaluate
the provisions of the Plan and only confirm if all the requirements of Bankruptcy Code § 1129,
including section 1129(a)(1) and by incorporation sections 524(e), 1123(b)(6), and 1141(d)(3), are
met.

4. There is also a lack of adequate information about the patently unconfirmable and
other inconsistent elements of the Plan. Even if the Plan could conceivably accomplish what
amounts to a discharge for the Debtor and third parties despite Bankruptcy Code §§ 524(e) and
1141(d)(3), adequate information requires identifying the issue in a disclosure statement so that

creditors can make an informed decision on whether to vote to reject the Plan or object to

! The Disclosure Statement indicates that the injunctions “are a necessary part of the Plan.” (Disclosure Statement at
p. 28).
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confirmation.> Moreover, certain provisions of the Plan are inconsistent and at odds with the
description in the Disclosure Statement. Simply providing more information would not resolve
these issues.

5. The Court should therefore deny approval of the Disclosure Statement. The Plan
described therein is patently unconfirmable, and the Disclosure Statement does not provide
adequate information. Solicitation of the Plan would only waste estate resources and paint an
incomplete and inaccurate picture of what the Plan would accomplish.

BACKGROUND

6. Jesse Dean was an Immigration Customs Enforcement detainee held at the Calhoun
County Jail in Battle Creek, Michigan. Shortly after arriving at the jail on December 31, 2020, he
sought medical care for serious medical symptoms. His complaints were repeatedly dismissed and
his symptoms ignored, despite other detainees and correctional officers telling medical
professionals about his declining condition. After suffering from severe pain for over a month,
Jesse died on February 5, 2021, from a treatable condition.

7. Corizon Healthcare and its various subsidiaries, successors, or alter egos
(“Corizon”) had a contract with the Calhoun County jail to provide medical services. On
information and belief, the liabilities of Corizon were assigned to Tehum Care Services, Inc. (the
“Debtor”), the debtor in possession in the above-captioned case, while the beneficial assets of
Corizon were assigned to YesCare, LLC (“YesCare”), by operation of a divisional merger under

Texas law.

2 To avoid doubt, the Personal Representative disputes that a plan could accomplish this even with a consensual plan
and the absence of an objection. Courts must independently determine whether a plan is confirmable even in the
absence of an objection. E.g., In re Cypresswood Land Partners, 1,409 B.R. 396, 421 (Bankr. S.D. Tex. 2009) (“This
Court has an independent duty to ensure that all of the requirements of § 1129 are met.”).

3
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8. On April 19, 2023, the Personal Representative filed a complaint (the “Complaint™)
in the U.S. District Court for the Western District of Michigan against Calhoun County, the United
States, and various medical professionals employed by Corizon before the divisional merger. On
information and belief, Corizon obtained an insurance policy for any medical-related claims
related to its services for Calhoun County.

0. The Personal Representative does not seek recovery from the Debtor’s estate, but
instead has focused on obtaining recovery from the defendants listed in the Complaint and any
applicable insurance. To that end, the Complaint does not include the Debtor as a defendant, and
the Personal Representative has not filed a proof of claim in the Debtor’s bankruptcy case. If
necessary to pursue available insurance or useful to obtain recovery against the other defendants,
the Personal Representative intends to include the Debtor or YesCare as a nominal defendant,
consistent with Fifth Circuit law. See, e.g., In re Coho Res., Inc., 345 F.3d 338, 343 (5th Cir. 2003)
(describing the “near unanimous agreement” that a creditor can bring, and proceeding in, an action
nominally directed against a discharged debtor for the sole purpose of proving liability on its part
as a prerequisite to recovering from an insurer).

ARGUMENT

A. The Plan is Patently Unconfirmable.

10. It is well settled that a bankruptcy court may disapprove a disclosure statement
when a defect renders a proposed plan inherently or patently unconfirmable. /n re Brass Corp.,
194 B.R. 420, 422 (Bankr. E.D. Tex. 1996) (“Disapproval of the adequacy of a disclosure
statement may sometimes be appropriate where it describes a plan of reorganization which is so
fatally flawed that confirmation is impossible.”) (internal citation omitted). A plan is “patently
unconfirmable” if (a) creditor voting results cannot cure confirmation defects and (b) such defects

concern matters upon which all material facts are not in dispute or have been developed fully at

4
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the disclosure statement hearing. In re Am. Cap. Equip., 688 F.3d 145, 154-55 (citing In re Monroe
Well Serv. Inc., 80 B.R. 324, 333 (Bankr. E.D. Pa. 1987)).

11. The fundamental problem the Personal Representative has with the Plan is not
about the economics—which creditors could conceivably vote to accept—but rather that the terms
of the Plan would contravene the Bankruptcy Code. The injunction provisions of the Plan do more
than the Bankruptcy Code allows and would bind parties that would not be entitled to vote on the
Plan. This is not something that could be cured by a unanimous creditor vote to accept the Plan.

i The injunctions contained in the Plan would effectively grant the Debtor a
discharge in contravention of Bankruptcy Code § 1141(d)(3).

12. Under Bankruptcy Code § 1141(d)(3), confirmation of a chapter 11 plan does not
discharge a debtor if (a) the plan provides for the liquidation of all or substantially all of the
property of the estate, (b) the debtor does not engage in business after consummation of the plan,
and (c) the debtor would be denied a discharge under Bankruptcy Code § 727(a) in a chapter 7
case. Section 727(a), in turn, provides that only individual debtors are entitled to a discharge under
chapter 7. See 11 U.S.C. § 727(a)(1).

13. The Plan here proposes liquidating all of the Debtor’s assets and ceasing the
Debtor’s business activities after the effective date. The Plan provides for the creation of two trusts
to accomplish the liquidation of the Debtor’s assets. The equity security interests of the Debtor
would be canceled, and all estate assets—other than the Personal Injury Trust Assets—would vest
in the Liquidation Trust. (Plan at pp. 16, 20). The Liquidation Trustee would be the sole
representative of the Post-Effective Date Debtor. (Plan at p. 19). The Debtor would not have any
post-Effective Date business operations and is therefore not entitled to a discharge under

Bankruptcy Code § 1141(d)(3).
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14. The injunctions contained in the Plan, however, have the effect of providing the
Debtor with a discharge. Article IX.F of the Plan provides that all “Enjoined Parties” are
permanently enjoined from “commencing or continuing in any manner any action or other
proceeding of any kind on account of or in connection with or with respect to claims or interests
that have been released, discharged, settled, or are subject to exculpation under this Plan” against
among others the Debtor, Post-Effective Date Debtor, and the Released Parties, including
YesCare. (Plan at pp. 30-31). The term “Enjoined Parties” is defined to include (a) all entities that
have held, hold, or may hold claims against the Debtor, (b) any entity that has appeared in the case,
and (c) any such entity’s present or future representatives. (Plan at p. 4). The Plan also provides
that its provisions “shall constitute a constitute a good-faith compromise and settlement of all
Claims, Interests, and controversies relating to the contractual, legal, and subordination rights that
a Holder of a Claim.” (Plan at pp. 18, 28). The injunctions are not limited to the “Consenting
Creditors.” Thus, every creditor is enjoined, even those not seeking recovery from estate assets or
not consenting to the releases. There is no meaningful distinction between the injunctions proposed
in the Plan and a discharge injunction under Bankruptcy Code § 524. If one is impermissible, so
is the other.

15. Bankruptcy Code § 1129(a)(1) requires for confirmation that a plan comply with
the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, and Bankruptcy Code § 1123(b)(6), in turn,
provides that a chapter 11 plan may only “include any other appropriate provision not inconsistent
with the applicable provisions of [the Bankruptcy Code].” The inverse is that a plan that is
inconsistent with the other applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code is not confirmable. The
Plan here is directly contrary to the limits on discharge contained in Bankruptcy Code § 1141(d)(3)

and therefore is not confirmable.
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il. The injunctions contained in the Plan would effectively grant the third parties a
discharge even as to the claims of non-Consenting Creditors in contravention of
Bankruptcy Code § 524(e).

16. The injunction provisions in the Plan go even further to effectively provide a
discharge to third parties. That has been expressly forbidden by the Court of Appeals for the Fifth
Circuit and renders the Plan patently unconfirmable.

17.  Article IX.F of the Plan provides that the Enjoined Parties are permanently enjoined
from “commencing or continuing in any manner any action or other proceeding of any kind on
account of or in connection with or with respect to claims or interests that have been released,
discharged, settled, or are subject to exculpation under this Plan” against the “Released Parties.”
(Plan at pp. 30-31). The Released Parties include numerous non-debtor entities and, importantly,
YesCare. (Plan at p. 8). Again, this injunction is not limited to the Consenting Creditors.

18.  Even if a discharge was available to the Debtor under the Plan, Bankruptcy Code
Bankruptcy Code § 524(e) provides that “a discharge of a debt of the debtor does not affect the
liability of any other entity on, or the property of any other entity for, such debt.” Moreover, the
Fifth Circuit has been clear that an injunction that effectively discharges the liability of third parties
does not comply with the Bankruptcy Code, In re Zale Corp., 62 F.3d 746, 760 (5th Cir. 1995),
and that a party can continue litigation to determine the liability of and obtain recovery from third
parties. In re Edgeworth, 993 F.2d 51, 53-54 (5th Cir. 1993). A creditor may bring and proceed
with an action involving a debtor’s liability to recover from a third party notwithstanding a
discharge even where the action is “nominally directed against a discharged debtor[.]” In re Coho
Res., Inc., 345 F.3d 338, 342 (5th Cir. 2003). Fifth Circuit caselaw broadly forecloses non-
consensual non-debtor releases and permanent injunctions. In re Pac. Lumber Co., 584 F.3d 229,

252 (5th Cir. 2009).
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19.  As with the effective discharge of the Debtor through the injunction provisions, the
effective discharge of third parties runs afoul of Bankruptcy Code §§ 1129(a)(1) and § 1123(b)(6).
The injunctions in the Plan are contrary to the express limitations in Bankruptcy Code § 524(e) on
the effect of a discharge—which is not even available here for the Debtor—and the Fifth Circuit’s
clear interpretation of the Bankruptcy Code as precluding non-consensual third-party releases. The

Plan is not confirmable.

iil. Creditor voting on the Plan cannot resolve the problems, making the Plan
unconfirmable.
20.  Even if every creditor entitled to vote under the Plan voted to accept, that would

not render the Plan confirmable because the injunction provisions of the Plan apply beyond just
those creditors entitled to vote on the Plan. The “Enjoined Parties” include all entities that held,
hold, or may hold claims against the Debtor, and even creditors who have not filed proofs of claim.
(Plan at p. 4). However, only holders of impaired claims that are “Allowed”—meaning a proof of
claim has been filed or listed on the Debtor’s schedules and not identified as contingent,
unliquidated, or disputed—are entitled to vote on the Plan. (Plan at p. 1, 14-16). While that is fine
for purposes of soliciting votes on the Plan, it also means that it is impossible that all of the
Enjoined Parties could vote in support of the Plan, thereby making the Plan patently
unconfirmable.

21. Moreover, the Court has an independent duty to ensure that all of the requirements
for confirmation are met. E.g., In re Cypresswood Land Partners, I, 409 B.R. 396, 421 (Bankr.

S.D. Tex. 2009) (collecting cases). While some provisions of Bankruptcy Code § 1129(a) depend



Case 23-90086 Document 1165 Filed in TXSB on 11/30/23 Page 9 of 12

upon creditor acceptance or objection,’ that is not the case with section 1129(a)(1), which requires
a plan to comply with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, or section 1123(b)(6),
which allows other appropriate provisions in a plan only if those provisions are not inconsistent
with the Bankruptcy Code. There is a limit to what even an entirely consensual chapter 11 plan
can do. The Plan here exceeds that limit.

22. The Debtor and the UCC indicate in the Disclosure Statement that the injunctions
are a necessary part of the Plan. If that is true, it means the Plan is doomed to failure and the estate
should not bear the expense of pointless solicitation. See In re Valrico Square Ltd. P’ship, 113
B.R. 794, 796 (Bankr. S.D. Fla. 1990) (“Soliciting votes and seeking court approval on a clearly
fruitless venture is a waste of the time of the Court and the parties.”); In re Atlanta W. VI, 91 B.R.
620, 622 (Bankr. N.D. Ga. 1988) (“[S]uch an exercise in futility only serves to further delay a
debtor’s attempts to reorganize.”). A chapter 11 plan that provides for the liquidation of a corporate
debtor cannot contain injunctions that amount to a discharge and be consistent with Bankruptcy
Code § 1141(d)(3). Nor can a chapter 11 plan effectuate what amounts to a discharge to third
parties and be consistent with Bankruptcy Code § 524(e) and binding Fifth Circuit precedent.

B. The Disclosure Statement Does Not Provide Adequate Information.

23.  Moreover, the Disclosure Statement lacks adequate information as to the issues
described above. While, for the sake of argument, a liquidating chapter 11 plan for a corporate
debtor can perhaps require acceptance of an otherwise impermissible injunction amounting to a
discharge as a condition to receiving settlement proceeds, adequate information requires detailing

those issues to the creditors entitled to vote. The same information is required for creditors whose

3 Bankruptcy Code § 1129(a)(7) is an example of a confirmation issue that depends on how creditors vote. A plan may
provide holders of claims less than they would receive or retain in a chapter 7 case if each holder of an allowed claim
in that class has accepted the plan. While that is exceedingly unlikely for classes with numerous claimants, it is at least
possible and should not usually be a reason a plan is patently unconfirmable.

9
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claims are not “Allowed” such that they are entitled to vote but will nonetheless receive opt-out
forms with respect to approval of the third-party releases. Creditors must be informed about what
the Plan would actually do for there to be adequate information.

24.  Inconsistent provisions of the Plan and Disclosure Statement exacerbate the
problem. The Disclosure Statement indicates that parties with Personal Injury Claims “will be
allowed to continue [their] lawsuit outside of the Bankruptcy Court” and that there “[t]here may
or may not be insurance to cover [the] claim, depending on the nature of the claim, where the
injury occurred, and the number of other potential claims asserted under the same policies.”
(Disclosure Statement at p. vii). Similarly, the Plan and Disclosure Statement indicate that all
claimholders must first seek recovery from insurance. (Disclosure Statement at pp. 26-27; Plan at
pp. 14-15, 25-26). But the mechanism for that requirement is uncertain as the “Enjoined Parties
are permanently enjoined, from an after the Effective Date, from . . . commencing or continuing
in any manner any action or other proceeding of any kind on account of or in connection with or
with respect to claims or interests that have been released, discharged, settled, or are subject to
exculpation under the Plan . .. .” (Plan at pp. 30-31). The Plan provides that “the provisions of the
Plan shall constitute a good faith settlement of all Claims” and that “[t]he entry of the Confirmation
Order shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court’s approval of the compromise or settlement of all such
Claims[.]” (Plan at pp. 28). It is not clear #ow creditors can obtain recovery from insurers if they
are enjoined from commencing or continuing actions “in connection with or with respect to” the
supposedly settled claims. The Disclosure Statement does not clarify the issue.

25. Maybe these issues can be addressed in a subsequent plan and disclosure statement

that provide for the same economic terms. Many of the problems seem to derive from extra-

10
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statutory language left over from a plan where a discharge was permissible.* But unless and until
a revised plan and disclosure statement addressing the issues described in this objection are
submitted, the Court should deny approval of the disclosure statement.

CONCLUSION

26.  Based on the foregoing, the Court should deny approval of the Disclosure Statement
and the solicitation thereof. The Plan described in the Disclosure Statement is patently
unconfirmable because the problems with the Plan cannot be addressed by creditor voting. Further,
the Disclosure Statement does not contain adequate information of either the injunction provisions
or the apparent inconsistencies in the Plan. While the Debtor and the UCC may be able to address
the issues with the Plan, they should do so prior to solicitation. The solicitation of the current Plan
through the current Disclosure statement would result in confusion and a waste of estate resources.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank)]

4 While the Bankruptcy Code does not provide that claims subject to a discharge are “settled,” similar language is
commonly used to colloquially—albeit not technically—describe the effect of a discharge. Cf. In re Fieldwood Energy
LLC,637B.R. 712,721 (Bankr. S.D. Tex. 2022), motion to certify appeal granted sub nom. Atl. Mar. Servs. LLC, No.
4:22-CV-00855, 2023 WL 3433684 (S.D. Tex. Mar. 30, 2023) (“In the Court's oral ruling, it reasoned that
‘satisfaction’ and ‘settlement’ should be understood as colloquial terms dealing with a discharge.”).

11
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Dated: November 30, 2023 SHANNON & LEE LLP

/s/ R. J. Shannon

Kyung S. Lee

State Bar No. 12128400
klee(@shannonleellp.com

R. J. Shannon

State Bar No. 24108062
rshannon(@shannonleellp.com
2100 Travis Street, STE 1525
Houston, Texas 77002

Tel. (713) 714-5770

Bankruptcy Counsel to the Personal
Representative

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that a true and correct copy of the foregoing document was served at the
time of filing, by the Electronic Case Filing System for the United States Bankruptcy Court for the
Southern District of Texas on all parties registered to receive such service in the above captioned
case.

/s/R. J. Shannon
R. J. Shannon
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EXHIBIT A

Dean Complaint
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN

Clarence Dean, Personal Representative
of the Estate of Jesse Dean,

Plaintiff,
V. COMPLAINT
County of Calhoun, Michigan, JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
United States of America, (except for FTCA claim)

Ashlei Packer, RN,

Nathan Meyer, RN,

Eir Pratt, LNP,

Megan Greenlee, RN,

Jessica Godzieblewski, RN, Health Services
Administrator,

Paul Troost, DO,

(fnu) Fish, and John and )
Jane Does,

N N N S \..4\_/\._/\_/\../\_/\_/\._/\./\_/\_/\./\_/

Defendants.

e

INTRODUCTION

1. Jesse Dean was an Immigration Customs Enforcement [ICE] detainece
held at the Calhoun County Jail [jaill in Battle Creek, Michigan. He
arrived at the jail on December 31, 2020. Shortly after arriving, he sought
medical care for serious medical symptoms. His complaints were
repeatedly dismissed and his symptoms ignored. After suffering from
severe pain for over a month, he died on February 5, 2021, of a treatable

condition.
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

2. This is a civil rights action in which the plaintiff, Clarence Dean, seeks
relief for the defendants’ violation of Jesse Dean’s rights secured by the Civil Rights
Act of 1871, 42 U.S.C. § 1983, rights secured by the fifth and fourteenth
amendments to the United States Constitution, and an action pursuant to the
Federal Torts Claims Act. The plaintiff seeks damages, both compensatory and

punitive, affirmative and equitable relief, an award of costs, interest and attorneys’
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JURISDICTION

3. This Court’s jurisdiction is invoked pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 1331 and 1343
(a)(3). The substantive claims herein arise under 42 U.S.C. 1983, violations of civil
rights, and the fifth and fourteenth amendments to the United States Constitution.
The Federal Tort Claims Act claims are before this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

1346.
THE PARTIES

4. Plaintiff Clarence Dean of Nassau, Bahamas, brother of Jesse Dean, is the

personal representative of the Estate of Jesse Dean.

5. The defendant, Calhoun County, is a county within the State of Michigan,

and is responsible for the inmates and detainees at the jail.
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6. The defendants Packer, Meyer, Greenlee, Troost, Pratt, and John and Jane
Does are responsible for providing healtheare to inmates and detainees at the jail,

and are sued in their individual capacities.

7. Defendant Godzieblewski is the Health Services Administrator at the jail

and is being sued in her supervisory and individual capacity.

8. Defendant Fish is an agent/employee of Calhoun County who lied to the

Bahamian Consulate about Mr. Dean’s care and condition.
9. Defendant United States is the defendant in the FTCA claim.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

10. Mr. Dean entered into the United States from the Bahamas on a tourist

visa.

11. Corizon Healthcare, and it’s various subsidiaries, successors or alter egos
(Corizon), had a contract with defendant Calhoun to provide medical care to the

inmates and detainees at the jail.

12. That contract initially was for a five year period commencing January 1,
2015, ending December 31, 2019, although defendant Calhoun’s relationship with
Corizon dated back to 1999.

13. Pursuant to that original contract, the contract was renewed for 2 one-
year terms. Therefore, the contract was in effect between December 31, 2020 and

February 5, 2021, the dates when Mr. Dean was at the jail.
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14. On December 31, 2020, Mr. Dean was transferred to the jail as an ICE

detainee.

15. On January 2, 2021, Mr. Dean submitted a sick call form stating he had
abdominal pain. From that day until his death a month later, Mr. Dean complained
of abdominal pain related issues at least 27 documented times. On at least 14

separate occasions Mr. Dean submitted requests about his health concerns.

16. On January 14, 2021, defendant Godzieblewski, in response to Mr.
Dean’s complaining of stomach pain and loss of appetite, ordered that Mr. Dean be
provided a liquid diet for four days. She did nothing else to address Mr. Dean’s
health concerns. She did nothing to have the medical staff, whom she supervised,

assess or treat Mr. Dean.

17. On January 22, 2021, Mr. Dean was seen by defendant John or Jane Doe,
a licensed practical nurse (LPN), in connection with his complaint of “a great deal of
abdominal pain.” He was given acetaminophen, but this LPN did not contact a

provider (M.D., D.O., L.N.P, or P.A.) or do anything else.

18. While at the jail, this was the only time Mr. Dean was given any pain
medication. The failure of the defendants to treat his pain evinced deliberate

indifference to Mr. Dean’s serious medical condition and needs.

19. On January 24, 2021, Mr. Dean submitted a request notifying medical
that he had lost 20 pounds in the last three weeks, was weak, could not eat regular
meals, had severe stomach pains all night, and needed a special diet to address the

matter.

20. Defendant John or Jane Doe responded to Mr. Dean, stating that his
Body Mass Index was fine, and that he should buy food out of the vending machine

4
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or have someone send him a care package if he was hungry. They did nothing to
treat Mr. Dean. None of the nurse defendants referred Mr. Dean’s concerns to a
medical provider or gave him any medical treatment for his concerning symptoms of

significant weight loss, severe stomach pains, and inability to eat regular meals.

21. On the same day, defendant LPN John or Jane Doe replied to Mr. Dean’s
request notifying him that the providers were treating him using their
gastrointestinal protocol and threatening him that “repeated and excessive requests

on the same topic” may result in a citation for interference with staff duties.

22. The next day, on January 25, 2021, Mr. Dean reported to his housing
unit deputy that he felt like he was going to die. When defendant John or Jane Doe
arrived at his housing unit, Mr. Dean told her he was in extreme abdominal pain
and when she declined to send him to the hospital, Mr. Dean offered to pay for the

hospital visit.

23. The defendant John or Jane Doe claimed to tell Mr. Dean that a provider

would see him in the morning. He was not scheduled to see a provider.

24. On January 26, 2021, the day the defendants claimed they scheduled Mr.
Dean to be seen by a provider, Mr. Dean submitted another request stating he had

been in severe pain for three weeks and needed emergency care.
25. Mr. Dean was not seen by a provider until January 27, 2021.

26. On January 28, 2021, defendant Troost received laboratory results
showing “profoundly” low sodium levels that were not accounted for by sample
error. This should have resulted in emergency evaluation and hospitalization.
There were other lab findings that pointed to a GI bleed that were never followed

up. His kidney impairment, elevated potassium level, and a significantly elevated

5
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lactate dehydrogenase level all was likely caused by Mr. Dean’s bleeding ulcer.
While hemolysis could have explained some abnormalities, it was imperative to

verify. Mr. Dean was dying and Defendant Troost did nothing.

27. In the morning hours of January 30, 2021, Mr. Dean was seen by
defendant Ashlei Packer for abdominal pain that was making it hard for him to
breathe. Both his severe abdominal pain and difficulty breathing were indications
that he should be seen by a provider. However, defendant Packer did not check his
vitals and did not have him seen by a provider. She charted “no further treatment
indicated.” She also administered a medication to Mr. Dean without authorization
and did not document the medication administration, both of which are serious

breaches of nursing practice.

28. In the late night of January 30, 2021, Mr. Dean submitted two more
requests, one asking for help for severe pain and the other stating once again he felt
like he was going to die. However, defendant Ashlei Packer assessed Mr. Dean that

evening, documenting there were “no abnormal findings.”

29. Other detainees and correction officers repeatedly told the medical
defendants about Mr. Dean’s declining condition, but their concerns were 1gnored as

well.

30. On January 31, 2021, Mr. Dean was seen by defendant Meyer for
significant pain in his abdomen. Defendant Meyer had a conversation with Mr.
Dean about his issues being related to his mental state and suggested that he talk
to someone in mental health. He did this despite being aware of Mr. Dean’s
constant pain and deteriorating medical condition. He knew that all the evidence
showed that Mr. Dean’s symptoms were caused by a serious medical condition. He
did not perform an abdominal exam, nor notify a provider. He did nothing to

address Mr. Dean’s medical concerns or conditions. His failure to adequately

6



Cassel 223900864 @3oRBKeNE CEGNdl 1 Fifkeagel DXSH-dedl04302723 FRage8706220

address Mr. Dean’s concerns evinced deliberate indifference to Mr. Dean’s medical

concerns and condition.

31. Nurses do not have formal training in diagnosing or ruling out medical
conditions, including those that are life-threatening. Numerous times during Mr.
Dean’s care, the defendant nurses attempted to minimize or diagnose his serious
symptoms but failed to notify a provider regarding Mr. Dean’s dangerous symptoms
(e.g. “inmate is still stable at this time and no further treatment is indicated”). The
repeated examples of nursing staff breaching their scope of practice and showing
indifference to Mr. Dean’s suffering resulted in the failure of Mr. Dean ever getting
a proper evaluation or treatment for his abdominal pain and ultimately caused his

death.

32. On January 31, 2021, on two separate occasions, defendants Nathan
Meyer and Ashlei Packer assessed Mr. Dean for complaints of abdominal pain.
Although Ashlei Packer supposedly referred Mr. Dean to be seen by a provider on
February 1, 2021, this never occurred. Neither defendants, Meyer nor Packer, did

anything else to address his deteriorating medical condition.

33. Additionally, on or about that same day, Mr. Dean contacted his sister,
Sharon Dean. He described to her his pain, worsening symptoms, that he had
collapsed twice and he felt like he was dying, and the failure of the defendants to

treat him. Sharon notified the Bahamian Consulate of the situation.

34. The Consulate contacted the jail about the situation but the jail and
defendants did nothing in response. The Consulate responded “Good evening Ms.
Dean, Vice Consul Gibson spoke with [Defendant] Fish this morning and
[Defendant Fish] advised that Mr. Dean was seen by medical staff who ‘confirmed
he is not gravely ill, nor does he suffer from any debilitating sickness. It appears

that your brother suffers from hypertension and high cholesterol and that these
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conditions are not threatening his life at this time.” This was a lie and an effort to

deceive Mr. Dean’s family.

35. He was supposedly scheduled to see a provider on February 1, 2021.

This never happened.

36. On February 2, 2021, defendant Greenlee responded to Mr. Dean’s
“losing consciousness” and complaining of abdominal pain. Suddenly passing out is
a very concerning symptom and should be followed by a prompt evaluation in an
emergency room. There is evidence that defendant Greenlee never requested
evaluation by a provider, referred him to an emergency room, nor was a more
thorough evaluation of his heart or review of his labs performed. Defendant
Greenlee also never weighed Mr. Dean despite his significant weight loss.
Defendant Greenlee did nothing to address Mr. Dean’s medical issues. This again
deviated from the standard of care and showed a deliberate indifference to Mr.

Dean’s severe pain and the medical condition that was causing it.

37. On February 4, 2021, defendant Packer assessed Mr. Dean due to his
advising her that his abdominal pain was “so bad it caused him to get dizzy and
fall.” She did not perform an abdominal exam or escalate care to a provider so he
could receive treatment for his pain. This again deviated from the standard of care

and showed deliberate indifference to Mr. Dean’s severe pain and medical condition.

38. On February 4, 2021, after fainting during the early morning pill call,
Mr. Dean reported his abdominal pain was so bad that it was making him dizzy.
Defendant Packer came to Mr. Dean’s housing unit and took his vital signs but did

not conduct an abdominal exam. Nor did she contact a provider or get Mr. Dean to

a hospital.
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39. Defendant Packer documented that she thought Mr. Dean’s complaints
were more of a behavioral issue than anything. She did this despite Mr. Dean’s
constant and serious medical issues which she was well aware of. On February 4,
2021 at 9:35pm, due to Mr. Dean’s prior complaints of abdominal pain and again
feeling dizzy, Mr. Dean was transferred to a cell in administrative segregation for
medical observation. At 9:42pm, defendant Packer, the same nurse who had
assessed Mr. Dean earlier that morning and documented that Mr. Dean still
complained of abdominal pain, saw Mr. Dean but she again did not conduct an
abdominal exam. Nor did she contact a provider or get Mr. Dean to a hospital. She

did nothing.

40. At no time, from this assessment until 7:34am the next morning, did any

medical staff check on Mr. Dean’s wellbeing.

41. Throughout the evening of February 4, 2021, to the morning of February
9, 2021, Mr. Dean knocked on the large glass window in his cell five separate times
to ask for water. Only on one occasion did defendant John or Jane Doe walk over to
Mr. Dean to speak with him. They told Mr. Dean he could get water out of the sink
in his cell as they were not allowed to give Mr. Dean a cup. Mr. Dean notified
defendant John or Jane Doe that he could not get up, and even though he was in the
cell for medical observation, defendant John or Jane Doe did not enter his cell to
assist him. Mr. Dean then struggled to get up and walked over to the sink, hunched

over, to get a sip of water. Again defendant John or Jane Doe did nothing.

42. On February 5, 2021, at approximately 7:34am, defendant Pratt
approached Mr. Dean’s cell to administer his morning medications. She noticed Mr.
Dean was struggling to stand up. As a result, she took Mr. Dean’s vital signs. He
had a critically low blood pressure reading of 88/48. She did not contact a provider

or do anything else to address either his difficulty in standing or his blood pressure.
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Mr. Dean was dying and she did nothing. Had she addressed these issues Mr. Dean

would be alive today

43. At 7:40am, defendant John or Jane Doe arrived and assessed Mr. Dean.
In her notes, she claimed Mr. Dean denied any chest pain or shortness of breath,
but Mr. Dean reiterated that he felt weak. At 7:45am, a nurse escorted Mr. Dean to
the medical unit in a wheelchair, where he was given an intravenous line for

hydration.

44. At 10:39am, a jail deputy delivered Mr. Dean his lunch, and upon
encountering Mr. Dean in distress, notified P.A. Appleby who was standing nearby.
At 10:41am, defendant Pratt and P.A. Appleby and one of the defendant providers
entered Mr. Dean’s room with an electrocardiogram (EKG) machine and completed

an EKG and blood sugar check.

45. Mr. Dean became unresponsive, and the deputy called an emergency
response over the radio at 10:42am; Master Control then called for emergency
medical services (EMS). At approximately 10:44am, medical staff placed Mr. Dean
on supplemental oxygen. Mr. Dean’s respirations, however, became variable at 5 to
20 breaths per minute. The normal range is 12-20 breaths per minute. This
represented agonal breathing. The final breaths of a dying man. Mr. Dean was

dying.

46. At 10:55am, EMS arrived in the medical unit and took over Mr. Dean’s
care; 11 minutes later, EMS left the medical unit with Mr. Dean. EMS documented
when they arrived on the scene that Mr. Dean was in critical condition,
unresponsive to stimuli and he was pale and sweating heavily. On their way to the

ambulance, Mr. Dean stopped breathing.

10



Cassd 23-8008B10BdB ke AR 6% 11, Fted @Dl XSBrled D31/22 3 PRged A bid2 PO

47. At 11:07am, Mr. Dean was placed into the back of the ambulance, which
was located in the jail sally port. At approximately 11:09am, a paramedic advised
that they needed to start cardiopulmonary resuscitation. Mr. Dean went into
cardiac arrest and two jail sergeants rotated chest compression responsibilities
until 11:14am, when local fire rescue arrived with an automatic chest compression

device and assumed CPR responsibilities.

48. At 11:38am, while still in the ambulance in the jail’s sally port, as CPR
efforts proved futile, EMS called a Bronson Battle Creek Hospital Emergency

Department physician, who pronounced Mr. Dean’s death.

49. Despite Mr. Dean'’s repeated complaints about losing weight, and his
obvious weight loss, the defendants, on the occasions they did take vital signs, never
weighed him. One defendant, despite Mr. Dean’s obvious welght loss and never

having weighed him, inexplicably documented that Mr. Dean had not lost weight.

50. On numerous occasions the chart indicated “hemoccult cards x3 and

orthostatic vital signs are required if GI bleed is suspected.” This was never done.

51. Mr. Dean had weeks of severe abdominal pain and considerable weight
loss. In addition, he had concerning symptoms such as passing out and marked lab
abnormalities. These necessitated emergency evaluation with comprehensive lab
testing and CT imaging of his abdomen to determine the cause of his symptoms.
Despite all of these concerning findings, the defendants failed to provide a proper
evaluation of Mr. Dean despite dozens of pleas for help from Mr. Dean. Nursing
staff repeatedly failed to escalate care to providers, even threatening Mr. Dean with
discipline for seeking help. Defendants dismissed objective evidence of his
worsening health and failed to address markedly abnormal lab findings. This

failure of numerous medical staff defendants to provide appropriate evaluation over

11
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the course of weeks was tantamount to doing nothing. This ultimately led to his

death.

52. Mr. Dean died of an untreated ulcer that eventually eroded into a blood
vessel, causing a massive GI bleed. His death could have easily been prevented
with appropriate evaluation and treatment. Over a period of weeks, the defendants
repeatedly failed to provide him appropriate evaluation necessitated by his
worsening condition despite the concerns of Mr. Dean, correctional officers, other
inmates/detainees, and the Bahamian embassy. The defendants in reckless
disregard to his severe medical condition, stood by and watched Mr. Dean slowly die

in pain.

INVESTIGATIONS

53. ICE conducted an investigation into Mr. Dean’s death at the jail and
found numerous instances of significant lapses in the medical care provided to Mr.
Dean. The allegations in this complaint came in substantial part from that
investigation. Plaintiff incorporates the report of that Investigation as if it was

pleaded here.

54. Similarly, the Office of the Inspector General of ICE issued a report
dated February 1, 2023. The IG evaluated the medical care provided nationwide to
ICE detainees. In their self-serving report, they found that there were no problems
with that medical care save one. That one was Mr. Dean. The IG’s review of the
medical files and autopsy report determined that Calhoun County Jail medical staff
should have acted more swiftly to meet Mr. Dean’s needs after correlating his
complaints of worsening symptoms, significant weight loss, hypotension, and fall
events. The report found that they did not take the appropriate action to address
his continued gastrointestinal complaints, and thus the Inspector General’'s Report

determined that the care provided was not appropriate.
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FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION, CIVIL RIGHTS VIOLATION AGAINST THE
INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANTS

55. Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1-54 above.

56. Defendants, Godzieblewski, Packer, Pratt, Meyer, Greenlee, Troost, and
John and Janes Does, acting under the color of state law were deliberately

indifferent to Mr. Dean’s medical condition and needs.

57.The i

fourteenth amendment rights under the United States Constitution.

58. A reasonable person in the position of the above-named individual
defendants would know or should have known that Mr. Dean’s medical condition
posed a serious risk to Mr. Dean’s health or safety. In fact, the evidence showed

they did know.

59. The above named individual defendant’s recklessly ignored that risk.

60. This deliberate indifference was the proximate cause of damage to Mr.
Dean including, but not limited to, excruclating pain and suffering, loss of

enjoyment of life, and his resulting death.

61. Defendant Fish lied to the Bahamian Consulate about Mr. Dean’s
medical condition. Defendant Fish also lied to the Bahamian Consulate about the

medical treatment being afforded to Mr. Dean.
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62. Defendant Fish told these lies intentionally and with reckless disregard

for the truth. This conduct was a due process violation that shook the conscience.

63. Defendant Fish told these lies to the Bahamian Consulate and through
them to the plaintiff and other family members almost a week prior to Mr. Dean’s
death. More likely than not this prevented any intervention that would have
changed the course of Mr. Dean’s medical treatment and saved his life. This cover

up was one of the proximate causes of Mr. Dean’s death.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION, CIVIL RIGHTS VIOLATION AGAINST
DEFENDANT CALHOUN COUNTY

64. Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1-63 above.

65. Defendant Calhoun contracted with Corizon to provide medical care to its

inmates and detainees.

66. As defendant Calhoun was well aware, Corizon had a long history of
providing unconstitutionally deficient health care to inmates and detainees around

the country.

67. Despite this awareness, defendant Calhoun, whose relationship with

Corizon dated back to 1999, repeatedly renewed their contract with Corizon.

68. Some of Corizon’s history is set out in an article written by Greg Dober in

the March 2014 issue of Prison Legal News.

69. Evidence of Corizon’s history of deliberate indifference to inmates’

medical needs is also set out in Johnson, et al v. Corizon Health Inc., et al, 6: 13-cv-

1855-TC, United States District Court for the District of Oregon (2015).
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70. Other examples are described in a 2015 article entitled “Corizon Health
Services Breaks Second Death Settlement Record This Year” in Shadow of Proof.

71. Nonetheless, defendant Calhoun was deliberately indifferent to the
medical needs of inmates and detainees at the jail by maintaining its contract with

Corizon and renewing that contract every few years.

72. Also, Calhoun County had a policy, custom or practice of failing to
provide sufficient medical care for inmates and detainees, including, Mr. Dean.

They include but are not limited to:

A. A policy, custom or practice of failing to follow the staffing guidelines as
set forth in standards published by the National Commission of
Correctional Healthcare; namely, the failure to have a Responsible Health

Authority (RHA) overseeing the medical staff.

B. A policy, custom or practice of providing financial incentives to employees

who limited emergency room visits by inmates or detainees.

C. A policy, custom or practice of failing to train its employees in the
recognition of severe, progressive, and life-threatening medical conditions,

such as Mr. Dean’s.

D. A policy, custom or practice of failing to discipline or reprimand
employees who do not follow company policies and/or standards that put

inmates’ health at risk;

E. A policy, custom or practice of denying inmates and detainees access to

appropriate, competent and necessary care for serious medical needs;
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F. A policy, custom or practice of failing to provide adequate supervision to

medical personnel by an on-site physician;

G. A policy, custom or practice of denying inmates necessary medical care to
save money and resources if an inmate or detainee is thought to be serving a

short sentence or to be released shortly;

H. A policy, custom or practice of discouraging transferring inmates or
detainees to a licensed acute facility and/or hospital for medical care in order

to save money and resources:;

L. A policy, custom or practice of failing to adequately monitor Corizon’s
performance to ensure it met staffing commitments and provided quality

healthcare;

J. A policy, custom or practice of “back-dating” medical records or “late

entries” in medical records and charting; and

K. A policy, custom or practice of failing to enforce and follow the contract
terms requiring defendant Corizon to staff the jail with medical professionals

licensed in the State of Michigan.
L. A policy; custom or practice of failing to follow their own GI protocol.

M. A policy, custom or practice of retaliating against inmates, detainees and

their families for complaints about medical care.

73. Corizon’s contract with defendant Calhoun County required Corizon to

comply with the National Commission of Correctional Healthcare, which provides
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the minimal standards of healthcare to inmates and detainees. Corizon did not

comply with those standards and defendant Calhoun was aware of that failure.

74. Defendant Calhoun County, acting under the color of state law, was
aware of Mr. Dean’s serious medical condition and needs and was deliberately

indifferent to his medical condition and needs.

75. Defendant Calhoun County acted in violation of Mr. Dean’s fifth and

fourteenth amendment rights under the United States Constitution.

76. This deliberate indifference was the proximate cause of damage to Mr.
Dean including, but not limited to, excruclating pain, and suffering loss of

enjoyment of life and his resulting death.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION FEDERAL TORTS CLAIMS ACT VIOLATION
AGAINST DEFENDANT UNITED STATES

77. Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1-76 above.
78. Defendant United States, through its agency, the Department of
Homeland Security, Immigration and Customs Enforcement (ICE), contracted with

defendant Calhoun County to house its detainees.

79. The defendant United States knew that Corizon was providing medical

care to the detainees at the jail.

80. As articulated above they also knew that Corizon and the defendant

Calhoun County had an egregious and long-standing history of providing
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unconstitutional, grossly insufficient medical care to inmates/detainees they were

obligated to serve.

81. The defendant United States knew that this substandard healthcare by
Corizon was provided not only to the inmates/detainees at the jail but to inmates

and detainees throughout jails and prisons around the country.

82. Defendant United States has a non-discretionary duty to ensure that the
medical needs of inmates/detainees in its custody are provided constitutionally

adequate medical care.

83. By continuing to place its detainees, like Mr. Dean, in the jail under the
care of defendant Calhoun and Corizon after becoming aware of these issues, the

defendant United States of America violated that duty.

84. This violation of duty was the proximate cause of damage to Mr. Dean
including, but not limited to excruciating pain and suffering, loss of enjoyment of

life and his resulting death.

85. On August 2, 2022, the plaintiff served a Form 95 administrative claim
against The Department of Homeland Security, Immigration and Customs

Enforcement by Certified Mail at 950 L'Enfant Plaza, SW, Washington, DC 20536.
86. On March 20, 2023, the claim was denied.
WHEREFORE, the plaintiff demands the following relief against defendants:
A. A trial by jury;

B. Compensatory damages to the Estate of Jesse Dean for past, present, and

future damages including, but not limited to, Jesse Dean’s death, pain and
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suffering, and loss of enjoyment of life, together with interest and costs as
provided by law.

C. Punitive damages against individual defendants;

D. All ascertainable economic damages, including past and future loss of
earnings and/or earning capacity;

E. Costs, interest, and attorneys’ fees; and

F. Such other further relief as this Court may deem proper and just,
including injunctive and declaratory relief as may be required in the

interests of justice.

CLARENCE DEAN
AUTHORITY OVER THE
ESTATE OF JESSE DEAN

By His Attorneys

Dated 4/18/2023 By: /s/ Lawrence A. Vogelman
Lawrence A. Vogelman #10280)
Shaheen & Gordon, PA
P.O. Box 977
Dover, NH 03821
lvogelman@shaheengordon.com

/s/ D. Michael Noonan

D. Michael Noonan, Esq. (#8214)
Shaheen & Gordon, PA

P.O. Box 977

Dover, NH 03821
mnoonan@shaheengordon.com

19



Cassd 23-8008B10BdB ke AR 6% 11, Fted @Dl X$Broled D31/22 3 P&ge @ P0fd2 PO

Attorneys for Plaintiff, Clarence Dean,
Personal Representative for the Estate of
Jesse Dean
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